

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

Extra-hepatic ~~m~~Morbidity and ~~m~~Mortality in ~~a~~Alcohol-related ~~L~~Liver ~~d~~Disease: Systematic ~~r~~Review and ~~m~~Meta-analysis

Mark D. Theodoreson¹;

Guruprasad P. Aithal^{2,3};

Michael Allison⁴;

Mayur Brahmania⁵;

Ewan Forrest⁶;

Hannes Hagström⁷;

Stine Johansen^{8,9};

Aleksander Krag^{8,9};

Alisa Likhitsup^{10,11};

Steven Masson¹²;

Anne McCune¹³;

Neil Rajoriya¹⁴;

Maja Thiele^{8,9};

Ian A. Rowe^{1,15};

Richard Parker^{1,*}

¹Leeds Liver Unit, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust

Leeds, UK

²Nottingham Digestive Diseases Centre, Translational Medical Sciences, School of Medicine,

Faculty of Health Sciences

University of Nottingham

Nottingham, UK

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

³NIHR Nottingham Biomedical Research Centre

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust and the University of Nottingham

Nottingham, UK

⁴Liver Unit, Cambridge NIHR Biomedical Research Centre

Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Cambridge, UK

⁵Toronto General Hospital

Toronto, Ontario, Canada

⁶Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Glasgow, UK

⁷Karolinska University Hospital

Stockholm, Sweden

⁸Department of Clinical Research, Faculty of Health Sciences

University of Southern Denmark

Odense, Denmark

⁹Fibrosis, Fatty Liver and Steatohepatitis Research Center Odense (FLASH), Department of

Gastroenterology and Hepatology

Odense University Hospital

Odense, Denmark

¹⁰St Luke 's Hospital

Kansas City, Missouri, USA

¹¹University of Missouri School of Medicine

Kansas City, Missouri, USA

¹²The Freeman Hospital

Newcastle, UK

¹³Bristol Royal Infirmary

Bristol, UK

¹⁴The Liver Unit, Queen Elizabeth Hospital

Birmingham, UK

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

¹⁵Leeds Institute for Medical Research

University of Leeds

Leeds, UK

*Correspondence

Dr Richard Parker, Leeds Liver Unit, St James' Hospital, Beckett St, Harehills, Leeds, LS9 7TF, UK.

Email: richard.parker@nhs.net

Figure S1 PRISMA flow chart.

Figure S2 (A) rate of fatal extra-hepatic events in ALD in studies rated low risk of bias. (B) rates of fatal extra-hepatic events in ALD compared to control groups and persons with alcohol use disorder in studies rated low risk of bias.

Figure S3 (A) risk of fatal extra-hepatic events compared to control groups without a diagnosis of ALD in studies rated low risk of bias. (B) risk of fatal extra-hepatic events in groups with alcohol use disorder or ALD in studies rated low risk of bias.

Figure S4 Risk difference of liver vs. non-liver related mortality by method diagnosis.

Figure S5 Comparison of liver vs. non-liver mortality in histological steatohepatitis and clinical alcoholic hepatitis, risk difference calculated with random-effect meta-analysis.

Figure S6 Comparison of liver vs. non-liver mortality by source of data in included studies.

Figure S7 Meta-regression to illustrate trends in relative risk of liver vs. non liver related mortality over time.

Table S1 Characteristics of included studies of persons with alcohol use disorder (identified from systematic reviews by Roerecke, Adbdul-Rahman and Laramée.⁵⁻⁷)

TABLE S2 Characteristics of included studies of ALD.

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

TABLE S3 Assessment of bias in included studies.

TABLE S4 Rates of outcomes when only studies at low risk of bias are included in meta-analysis.

TABLE S5 Risk of outcomes when only studies at low risk of bias are included in meta-analysis.

Abstract

Background

Alcohol use increases the risk of many conditions in addition to liver disease; patients with alcohol-related liver disease (ALD) are therefore at risk from both extra-hepatic and hepatic disease.

Aims

This review synthesises information about non-liver-related mortality in persons with ALD.

Methods

A systematic literature review was performed to identify studies describing non-liver outcomes in ALD. Information about overall non-liver mortality was extracted from included studies, and sub-categorised into major causes: cardiovascular disease (CVD), non-liver cancer and infection. Single-proportion meta-analysis was done to calculate incidence rates (events/1,000 patient-years) and relative risks (RR) compared to with control populations.

Results

Thirty-seven studies describing 50,302 individuals with 155,820 patient-years of follow-up were included. Diabetes, CVD and obesity were highly prevalent amongst included patients (5.4%,

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

10.4% and 20.8% respectively). Outcomes varied across the spectrum of ALD: in alcohol-related fatty liver the rate of non-liver mortality was 43.4/1,000 patient-years, whereas in alcoholic hepatitis the rate of non-liver mortality was 22.5/1,000 patient-years. The risk of all studied outcomes was higher in ALD compared ~~to~~ with control populations: ~~The~~ The RR of death from CVD was 2.4 (1.6 ~~--~~ 3.8), from non-hepatic cancer 2.2 (1.6 ~~--~~ 2.9) and from infection 8.2 (4.7 ~~--~~ 14.3).

Conclusion

Persons with ALD are at high risk of death from non-liver causes such as cardiovascular disease and non-hepatic cancer.

Keywords

Alcohol-related liver disease
Meta-analyses
Outcomes research
Epidemiology
Cirrhosis

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

Study highlights

What ~~is~~ ~~K~~known?

- Alcohol-related liver disease is a leading cause of liver-related morbidity and mortality.
- Excess alcohol consumption increases the risk of a wide variety of ill health.

What ~~is~~ ~~N~~ew ~~H~~ere?

- A systematic review and meta-analysis of non-liver ill health in persons with ALD.
- Comorbidity is common in ALD, with high rates of obesity, diabetes and cardiovascular disease.
- The risk of cardiovascular disease and malignancy are increased in ALD, compared to control groups without ALD and groups with alcohol use disorder.

ABBREVIATIONS

ALD	a Alcohol-related liver disease
CVD	c Cardiovascular disease
RR	R relative risk
AFLD	A alcohol-related fatty liver
ASH	a Alcohol-related steatohepatitis
AH	A alcohol-related hepatitis
HCC	H epatocellular carcinoma
AUD	a Alcohol use disorder
ALD-C	c Compensated cirrhosis

1. INTRODUCTION

Alcohol-related liver disease (ALD) is common worldwide and a frequent cause of ill health and premature mortality. ALD causes a spectrum of liver disease ranging histologically from hepatic steatosis (alcohol-related fatty liver, AFLD), steatohepatitis (alcohol-related steatohepatitis, ASH) to cirrhosis.¹ Alcohol-related hepatitis (AH) is an acute manifestation of ALD that is usually diagnosed clinically, and is typified by jaundice and liver failure.² Hazardous alcohol intake is associated with many medical conditions³ and consequently patients with ALD are at risk of other causes of morbidity and mortality in addition to liver disease.

Our group recently described the natural history of ALD based on published studies of histologically proven disease, where we considered progression of disease and mortality.⁴ The information from these biopsy-based studies allowed us only to describe mortality in broad categories of 'liver-related' and 'non-liver-related'. Extra-hepatic disease in patients with ALD has not been systematically reviewed. The purpose of this analysis was to synthesise the available evidence regarding the rate and risk of extra-hepatic mortality from specific major causes in ALD.

2. METHODS

A systematic literature review was performed in PubMed and Ovid (including OvidMedline + EMBASE classic), searching title and abstract using the search terms: morbidity OR mortality OR surviv* OR outcome* OR "natural history" OR prognos* AND "liver disease" OR "liver fibrosis" OR cirrho* OR hepatitis* OR decompensat* AND alcohol* OR alcohol-related.

Search terms were formed through discussion between MDT and RP of key terms found in the current literature. Included were manuscripts published in English from 1948 until the date of

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

the literature search, limited to human studies with the full text available. The literature search was performed on the 6th of April 2020 and updated 28th June 2022. The titles of the manuscripts identified by the literature search were reviewed for relevance by MDT and those which appeared suitable were reviewed in detail. The second review was performed by MDT and RP. Manuscripts were included if they described a cohort of patients with any stage of ALD with a follow-up period of at least one year, and included information on the incidence and cause of mortality. The reference lists and citing literature of each included paper were reviewed to identify other relevant papers not found by the initial search.

After review of outcomes reported in included studies, major causes of non-liver mortality that were considered were: cardiovascular disease, extra-hepatic cancer (i.e., non-HCC or cholangiocarcinoma) and infection. In addition the totality of non-hepatic mortality was noted. For the purposes of this review, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and cholangiocarcinoma were considered a liver-related event. Control groups described in included studies were used to compare rates and risks between ALD and non-ALD populations. To compare rates of disease between ALD and alcohol use disorder (AUD), recent comprehensive meta-analyses of physical outcomes in AUD were used as a source of relevant studies⁵⁻⁷ (supplementary Table S1), and data extracted from individual studies that were included in these meta-analyses.

Data were manually extracted into a spreadsheet. Extracted data included: time period of study, source of data (registry, multi-centre or single centre), method of diagnosis, subtype of liver disease included, years of follow-up, fatal and non-fatal events, liver-related events, events in control populations, biochemical and anthropometric data at baseline. Information regarding explicit exclusion of other liver diseases through patient history and blood testing was noted. Information about control populations, when present, was also extracted to allow them to be described. Two authors (RP, MDT) extracted data and inconsistencies were resolved by consensus. Where standardised mortality rates or standardised incidence rates were reported in comparison with control groups, absolute numbers were calculated from this ratio using a cohort of the same size as the corresponding cohort with ALD. Several papers identified patients from the same databases but were all included as they reported different outcomes, or outcomes from different eras.

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

ALD was defined as per original authors and the means of diagnosis (biopsy or clinical) recorded. ALD was considered as a single entity encompassing the whole spectrum of disease if described as such in original papers, and where possible sub-groups of ALD were considered: AFLD, AH, cirrhosis (ALD-C) and decompensated cirrhosis (ALD-DC). AH was defined primarily as a clinical entity rather than defined on histological grounds. The presence of ascites or bleeding varices were considered to represent decompensated cirrhosis based on the description of the natural history of cirrhosis by D'Amico and colleagues.⁸

Random effect meta-analysis using logit transformation to calculate an overall proportion was done for the following measures:

1. prevalence of extra-hepatic diseases at the beginning of follow-up
2. relative risk (RR) of liver-related versus non-liver-related mortality within groups with ALD
3. Mortality rate from extra-hepatic causes during follow-up calculated as events per 1,000 patient-years
4. relative risk of extra-hepatic mortality between ALD and control populations

Meta-analysis was performed using the 'meta' package in R. Sensitivity analysis for each outcome was done using only papers at a low risk of bias (see below). Additional subgroup analyses were undertaken to examine risk of liver vs. non-liver mortality between cohorts where all participants underwent biopsy and cohorts that relied on clinical or radiological information and between histological steatohepatitis and patients with the clinical syndrome of AH, and to assess differences over time between cohorts using the decade of the end of follow-up to define era of study. Data are presented as summary forest plots to allow for comparison between stages of liver disease and between ALD, AUD and control groups.

The risk of bias in included studies was assessed with the Newcastle-Ottawa tool for cohort studies.⁹ Two authors (RP, MDT) scored each study and papers were rated as being at high or low risk of bias. A cut-off of seven, and scoring within each of the domains, indicated studies at low risk of bias. This systematic review was registered with the PROSPERO database (reference

CRD42019141607). All authors had access to the study data and reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

3. RESULTS

The literature search identified 116 papers of which 37 papers were included¹⁰⁻⁴⁶ (supplementary Figure S1). The included papers described outcomes in 50,302 patients with ALD with a total of 155,820 patient-years of follow-up (supplementary Table S2). The risk of bias of each study, assessed with the Newcastle-Ottawa tool, are shown in supplementary Table S3. Thirteen studies were considered to be at low risk of bias.

3.1. Case and control definition

Of the 37 included studies, seven (including 15,204 participants) reported outcomes in AFLD, five studies (2,541 participants) described outcomes in AH,^{10, 18, 27, 33, 35} thirteen studies (15,302 participants) described outcomes in cirrhosis,^{21-24, 29, 31, 34, 36, 38, 39, 42, 43, 45} four studies (635 participants) described outcomes in decompensated cirrhosis^{11-13, 25} and a further 11 studies (18,866 participants) reported outcomes for ALD as a single entity.^{14, 17, 21, 26, 28, 30, 32, 34, 37, 40, 44} Sixteen studies (6,265 participants)^{16, 18-21, 26-30, 36, 37, 41, 45-47} defined subgroups of ALD through biopsy, six studies (1,642 participants) used a combination of biopsy and clinical diagnosis,^{12, 14, 31, 32, 34, 43} and 15 studies (42,395 participants) reported outcomes in patients diagnosed clinically.^{11, 13, 15, 17, 22-25, 33, 35, 38-40, 42, 44} Two further studies reported on patients with histological steatohepatitis (169 participants), but not necessarily the clinical syndrome of AH^{19, 41} and were considered separately. The median of reported age ranges of included studies was 52 years (range of medians 39.5-59 years), the median gender distribution was 74% male (45-100%).

Four studies described specific outcomes in control groups that included a total of 33,563 individuals.^{21, 39, 42, 44} Two of these studies^{21, 44} described a specific control group and two^{39, 42} referred to a control population to calculate standardised~~standardized~~ mortality rate (SMR) or

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

~~standardised~~~~standardized~~ incident ratio (SIR). Explicit screening for and removal of patients with liver disease from the control group was only done in one study⁴⁴ where direct patient information was available, other studies relied on information from medical records to exclude other causes of liver disease. Limited data were reported about characteristics of studied populations. The median of reported average age in control groups was 45~~_~~years (range of reported medians 40~~_~~—49) and 52% were male.

3.2. Prevalence of extra-hepatic morbidity at baseline

Ten studies^{11, 12, 16, 17, 19–21, 37, 43, 44} described the presence of extra-hepatic co-morbidity at the beginning of follow-up. Co-morbidity due to diabetes, cardiovascular disease or obesity was common: 5.4% of studied individuals had diabetes, 10.4% had cardiovascular disease~~_~~, and 20.8% were classified as obese (body mass index greater than 30~~_~~ kg/m²). The study by Chang et al¹⁵ used a lower cut~~_~~off for obesity of 25~~_~~ kg/m² and was excluded from this analysis; including this study increased the apparent prevalence of obesity to 61.1%. Extra-hepatic cancer was present at baseline in 8.3% of individuals in reported cohorts. The prevalence of comorbidity did not vary across types of liver disease except in diabetes where higher rates were seen in cohorts with cirrhosis. In comparison ~~to~~~~with~~ control groups or groups of persons with AUD, cohorts of ALD had higher rates of diabetes and cardiovascular disease, whereas the prevalence of extra-hepatic cancer and obesity were comparable to control groups.

3.3. Extra-hepatic mortality

3.3.1. Hepatic versus extra-hepatic mortality

In total~~_~~, 21~~_~~,376 deaths were reported across the included studies. Overall, 54.7% of deaths in included studies were due to liver disease (7,037 deaths in 33 studies). Non-hepatic causes of death (5,410 deaths in 30 studies) were recorded as: an average of 6.6% of deaths due to cardiovascular disease (2,321 deaths in 30 studies), 5.7% due to cancer (2013 deaths in 33 studies)~~_~~, and 1.9% due to infection (521 deaths~~_~~ reported in 18 studies). The cause of death varied considerably across the spectrum of liver disease: in AFLD, liver-related mortality accounted for 23.8% of deaths~~_~~, whereas in ALD-DC 70.8% of deaths were liver-related (~~f~~Figure

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

1A). As a point of clarification, the reported mortality rates are specific to the group of studies that report each outcome as opposed to the total across all the studies.

In patients with AFLD the risk of liver mortality was lower than that of non-liver-related mortality (RR 0.25, 95%_CI 0.16--0.38, $p < 0.01$). All other subtypes of ALD had a higher risk of liver-related deaths compared with non-liver-related mortality: AH RR 5.27 (95%_CI 1.96--14.14, $p < 0.01$), ALD-C RR 1.78 (95%_CI 1.31--2.42, $p < 0.01$), ALD-DC RR 2.38 (95%_CI 2.00--2.82, $p < 0.01$). For studies that considered ALD as a whole, there was no statistically significant difference in risk between liver and non-liver mortality: RR 1.14 (95%_CI 0.56--2.32, $p = 0.722$). These risks were in excess of AUD cohorts where the RR for liver vs. non-liver mortality was 0.14 (95%_CI 0.10--0.19, $p < 0.01$) (Figure 1B).

3.4. Rate of extra-hepatic mortality

The rate of non-liver and liver-related mortality derived from meta-analysis are shown in Table 1. The rate of non-liver mortality was higher in all stages of ALD than in control groups (overall rate of non-liver-related mortality in ALD 34.3 events/1000 patient-years vs. 20 events/1000 patient-years). The overall rate of cardiovascular mortality in ALD was 8.4 events/1000 patient-years, overall rate of cancer-related mortality was 12.1 events/1000 patient-years, and overall rate of infection-related mortality was 10.5 events/1000 patient-years (Figure 2A). The rates of all types of mortality were numerically higher in ALD compared ~~to~~ with control groups or AUD (Figure 2B). This was statistically significant when considering rates of cancer-related or infection-related deaths. When only studies considered to be at low risk of bias were included, the overall pattern of results remained but statistical significance between stages of liver disease was lost (supplementary Figure S2), but the increased rate of cancer and infection-related mortality in ALD compared ~~to~~ with control groups or groups with AUD remained statistically significant.

3.5. Risk of extra-hepatic mortality

Studies that reported on mortality in ALD and control groups^{21, 24, 33, 38–40, 42, 44} were analysed to describe the relative risks of non-liver mortality in ALD compared ~~to~~-with control populations. Persons with ALD had a higher risk of all studied outcomes compared ~~to~~-with control populations (Table 2, Figure 2C). The risk of cardiovascular- and cancer-related deaths in ALD was in excess of populations with AUD (Figure 2D). There was insufficient data to analyse the relative risk of infection-related events. Limiting this analysis to only studies at low risk of bias produced the same pattern of results but with insufficient data to reach statistical significance (supplementary Figure S3).

3.6. Sensitivity and subgroup analyses

Sixteen studies including 6,054 participants selected only patients with biopsy-confirmed disease and reported on cause of mortality: no differences were seen in the risk of liver versus non-liver-related mortality when considering the method of diagnosis (supplementary Figure S4). Five studies (including 2,541 participants) reporting patients with clinical AH^{10, 18, 27, 33, 35} were compared to two studies (169 participants) reporting histological steatohepatitis.^{19, 41} The risk of liver-related mortality was greater in patients with clinically diagnosed AH (RD 0.32, 95% CI 0.15–0.50, $p < 0.01$), but no difference in risk was seen in patients with histological steatohepatitis (RD liver vs. non-liver mortality, -0.32 , $-0.75 - 0.10$, $p = 0.14$) (supplementary Figure S5). Studies were compared in terms of the source of their data: single centre, multi-centre or registry. Single-centre studies tended to report a greater risk of liver-related mortality (RD 0.17, 95% CI 0.03–0.30, $p = 0.02$) compared ~~to~~-with multi-centre (RD -0.10 , $-0.46 - 0.27$, $p = 0.60$) or registry studies (RD -0.07 , $-0.02 - 0.16$, $p = 0.14$) (supplementary Figure S6). Meta-regression to analyse changes in the risk of liver versus non-liver mortality over time did not show any significant changes over five decades (estimate 0.0092, $p = 0.244$) (supplementary Figure S7).

4. DISCUSSION

Hazardous alcohol intake increases the risk of many adverse health events in addition to liver disease. Holistic management of patients with any stage of ALD should be underpinned by an

understanding of these risks. This systematic review is the first synthesis of all the available data to describe the risks of extrahepatic mortality in ALD. Our results confirm that liver-related mortality is the main cause of death in ALD, and also show that the risk of major fatal causes of ill health such as cardiovascular disease and non-HCC cancer are increased in persons with ALD. This risk is in excess of persons with AUD or control populations without ALD.

As might be expected, the rate of liver-related ill health increases across the spectrum of liver disease. Interestingly the risk of significant ill health from non-liver causes also increases—for example, in people with AFLD the relative risk of death due to cardiovascular disease compared to ~~with~~ control populations was 1.4 (1.1–1.7), whereas in AH the relative risk was 5.0 (2.7–9.7) and in people with cirrhosis the relative risk was 2.5 (1.4–4.6) (Table 2). These differences may reflect other factors such as increasing age or more significant alcohol ~~excess~~ excess, but it is possible that the presence of liver disease is a risk for excess mortality and morbidity from extrahepatic disease. The increased risk of health problems in AFLD, although numerically smaller than other subtypes of ALD, is important as this group is the most prevalent subgroup of ALD and are more likely to be seen in primary care or non-liver/gastroenterology clinics. The increased risk may not be recognised if the focus of management is solely on exclusion of serious liver disease.

Alcohol consumption is known to be associated with both cardiovascular disease and cancer³ and therefore the excess risk associated with ALD compared to ~~with~~ control populations is likely largely attributable to alcohol rather than liver disease per se. However, excess risk was seen in ALD compared to groups with AUD, further raising the possibility of the presence of liver disease contributing to the development of extrahepatic ill-health. There are biological changes that occur in ALD—both within the liver and outside it—that will increase cardiovascular risk, for example impaired glucose metabolism and altered lipid profiles.⁴⁸ Moderate alcohol use has been associated with a decreased risk of cardiovascular disease⁴⁹ but the populations studied here drink at levels beyond protective consumption. Clarity about the additional risk that ALD may confer in excess of hazardous alcohol use will require a careful prospective study of heavy drinkers with and without liver disease.

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

This meta-analysis is based on a robust search of the available literature and reflects the current state of understanding of extra-hepatic mortality in ALD. However, there are conspicuous shortcomings in the literature: Data are scarce or entirely lacking for several of the areas addressed in this paper especially regarding non-cirrhotic disease, or non-fatal events. This latter point is important as many papers report on cause of death but not on important and common causes of non-fatal ill health. Furthermore, cause of death is often not an exact science.

Acquiring accurate and consistent mortality data across the studies is challenging and likely to introduce an element of reporting bias that may influence the conclusions that can be drawn.

For example, a patient with spontaneous bacterial peritonitis may have a cause of death listed as either infection or decompensated liver disease. The effect of abstinence, which is an important predictor of liver-related outcomes in ALD, is also not explored in sufficient detail to attempt quantitative analysis on the effect of extra-hepatic outcomes. Other important factors for cardiovascular disease or malignancy such as smoking are not addressed in sufficient detail to examine their effects. The majority of the studies included in this meta-analysis used cases of ALD that had been diagnosed in secondary care, and many of them used biopsy to confirm a diagnosis. The data from meta-analysis are therefore directly relevant to individuals who are managed from secondary care, and generalising the risks presented here to the wider population of hazardous drinkers should be done with a degree of caution.

The Newcastle-Ottawa tool is validated in the assessment of risk of bias for cohort studies⁵⁰ and was used to eliminate the studies with greatest risk of bias. The Newcastle-Ottawa tool is however a crude method of assessing quality and it is acknowledged that some bias will inevitably still be present in the remaining studies. In a meta-analysis such as this, when including such a broad range of data sets there is an inherent risk of bias, namely reporting bias, that is hard to account for statistically. Therefore each of the included studies, with a Newcastle-Ottawa rating of 'Good', were reviewed for bias that had not yet been addressed. Particular attention was focused on two main studies, Chang et al¹⁵ ($n = 13,890$) and Sahlman et al.⁴⁰ ($n = 11,873$), as these accounted for 68% of all included patients in studies rated as 'Good'. Several studies including the study by Sahlman et al⁴⁰ obtained data from hospitalised inpatients, effectively excluding the 'healthy liver disease' population in the community and this

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

lack of heterogeneity between the groups inherently creates a selection bias. Sahlman et al⁴⁰ reported on 11,873 patients who were followed up for a total of 8468 patient-years. Though the follow-up period was up to five years, the average follow-up was less than one year which does raise questions about selection bias. This may have significant bearing on the reported standardised mortality. The study by Chang et al¹⁵ is also at risk of selection bias as the cohort was a ~~self-selecting~~self-selecting group of people who had undergone a comprehensive health exam and therefore not representative of the population. They are more likely to be from a higher socio-economic group and thus be afforded the associated health privileges this brings.⁵¹ In addition, this cohort used a self-administered questionnaire which leaves the study vulnerable to reporting bias.

However, despite the methodological weaknesses identified, it must be acknowledged that there are inherent limitations to performing large population analyses, with restrictions on datasets available as well as resources assigned to conduct the study. Information on certain outcomes, such as reporting on HCC is limited in some studies. There is a lack of good-quality studies with a low risk of bias, particularly with a focus on alcohol-related hepatitis and decompensated cirrhosis. As a result, there is a continuing need for good-quality natural history studies, however, the challenges of performing these are recognised. Despite the overall lack of studies with a low risk of bias, in this analysis, the majority of the patients were derived from studies that were assessed to be at a low risk of bias via the Newcastle-Ottawa tool. Over 50,000 patients were assessed in this meta-analysis, of which 75% were obtained from 13 studies with a low risk of bias. Any bias within an individual study is therefore likely to be, at least in part, mitigated by the meta-analysis.

Our findings add to the existing literature as the first systematic synthesis of published outcome data. Our findings are consistent with a large study of mortality in chronic liver disease that was not suitable for inclusion in this meta-analysis: Kim et al examined trends in mortality in various types of chronic liver disease using data from the US National Vital Statistics System.⁵²

Cardiovascular disease and cancer were frequent causes of death, but outweighed by liver-related mortality in this cohort of patients diagnosed with ALD in secondary care settings.

Recent work from our group used meta-analysis to examine rates of mortality in histologically-

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

proven disease.⁴ This previous work did not examine causes of mortality or morbidity beyond broad categories of 'liver' and 'non-liver' and as such the data presented here adds to the previous analysis by illustrating specific causes of ill health in ALD. There was insufficient information to consider differential effects of abstinence on liver and non-liver-related ill health although this information would be of value to clinicians and to patients.

This systematic review and meta-analysis shows that the risk of non-liver mortality as well as major morbidity such as cardiovascular disease and cancer are increased in persons with ALD. This review also highlighted deficiencies in the available literature regarding outcomes in ALD and emphasises the urgent need for high-quality natural history studies in ALD to address these shortcomings. These data confirm that excess mortality and morbidity in ALD are driven not only by liver disease but also by other non-communicable diseases and will support appropriate holistic care of individuals with all stages of ALD.

FUNDING INFORMATION

No financial support was received to support this study.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT Conflicts of interest

MDT has no conflicts of interest to declare. GA has no conflicts of interest to declare. MA has no conflicts of interest to declare. MB has no conflicts of interest to declare. EF has no conflicts of interest to declare. HH's institution has received research grants from AstraZeneca, EchoSens, Intercept, Gilead, MSD and Pfizer for unrelated work. HH has served as a board advisory member

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

for Gilead and Bristol Myers-Squibb. SJ has no conflicts of interest to declare. AK has no conflicts of interest to declare. AL has no conflicts of interest to declare. SM has no conflicts of interest to declare. AM has no conflicts of interest to declare. NR has no conflicts of interest to declare. MT has received speaker's fees from Echosens, Norgine and Siemens Healthcare. Advisory fee from GE Healthcare. IAR has no conflicts of interest to declare. RP has received speaking fees from Norgine, Siemens and Shionogi, and consulting fees from DURECT.

CONSENT

No patient consent was necessary for this meta-analysis.

ETHICS STATEMENT

No ethical approval was necessary for this meta-analysis.

GUARANTOR OF THE ARTICLE

Dr R Parker is the guarantor of this article.

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

PERMISSIONS

All data and images included are original material.

REFERENCES

1. Alcoholic liver disease: [M](#)morphological manifestations. Review by an International Group. *Lancet* 1981;1(8222):707–11.
2. [Lucey MR](#), [Mathurin P](#), [Morgan TR](#). Alcoholic [h](#)Hepatitis [[i](#)Internet]. Vol. 360, *N Engl J Med* 2009. p. 2758–69. [10.1056/nejmra0805786](https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmra0805786)
3. [Rehm J](#), [Mathers C](#), [Popova S](#), [Thavorncharoensap M](#), [Teerawattananon Y](#), [Patra J](#). Global burden of disease and injury and economic cost attributable to alcohol use and alcohol-use disorders. [Lancet](#)~~Lancet~~. 2009;373(9682):2223–33.
4. [Parker R](#), [Aithal GP](#), [Becker U](#), [Gleeson D](#), [Masson S](#), [Wyatt JL](#), [Rowe IA](#), [WALDO study group](#) et al. Natural history of histologically proven alcohol-related liver disease: [a](#)A systematic review. [J Hepatol](#)~~J Hepatol~~. 2019;71(3):586–93.
5. [Abdul-Rahman A-K](#), [Card TR](#), [Grainge MJ](#), [Fleming KM](#). All-cause and cause-specific mortality rates of patients treated for alcohol use disorders: [a](#)A meta-analysis. [Subst Abus](#)~~Subst Abus~~. 2018;39(4):509–17.
6. [Laramée P](#), [Leonard S](#), [Buchanan-Hughes A](#), [Warnakula S](#), [Daepfen J-B](#), [Rehm J](#). Risk of [a](#)All-[c](#)Cause [m](#)Mortality in [a](#)Alcohol-[d](#)Dependent [i](#)Individuals: [a](#)A [s](#)Systematic [l](#)Literature

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

~~Review and m~~Meta-a~~A~~Analysis [~~I~~Internet]. Vol. 2, EBioMedicine. 2015. p. 1394–404.
10.1016/j.ebiom.2015.08.040

7. Roerecke M, Rehm J. Cause-specific mortality risk in alcohol use disorder treatment patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. ~~Int J Epidemiol~~Int J Epidemiol. 2014;43(3):906–19.
8. D'Amico G, Garcia-Tsao G, Pagliaro L. Natural history and prognostic indicators of survival in cirrhosis: a systematic review of 118 studies. ~~J Hepatol~~J Hepatol. 2006;44(1):217–31.
9. Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, Tugwell P. *The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-Analyses*. [Internet]. 2013. Available from: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp. (2013)
10. Altamirano J, López-Pelayo H, Michelena J, Jones PD, Ortega L, Ginès P, Caballería J, Gual A, Bataller R, Lligoña A et al. Alcohol abstinence in patients surviving an episode of alcoholic hepatitis: pPrediction and impact on long-term survival. ~~Hepatology~~Hepatology. 2017;66(6):1842–53.
11. Alvarez MA, Cirera I, Solà R, Bargalló A, Morillas RM, Planas R. Long-term clinical course of decompensated alcoholic cirrhosis: a prospective study of 165 patients. ~~J Clin Gastroenterol~~J Clin Gastroenterol. 2011;45(10):906–11.
12. Bell H, Jahnsen J, Kittang E, Raknerud N, Sandvik L. Long-term prognosis of patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis: a 15-year follow-up study of 100 Norwegian patients

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

admitted to one unit. [Scand J Gastroenterol](#)~~Scand J Gastroenterol~~. 2004;39(9):858–63.

13. Borowsky SA, Strome S, Lott E. Continued heavy drinking and survival in alcoholic cirrhotics. [Gastroenterology](#)~~Gastroenterology~~. 1981;80(6):1405–9.
14. Brunt PW, Kew MC, Scheuer PJ, Sherlock S. Studies in alcoholic liver disease in Britain: 1 Clinical and pathological patterns related to natural history [Internet] Vol. 15, [Gut](#). 1974. p. 52–8. [10.1136/gut.15.1.52](https://doi.org/10.1136/gut.15.1.52)
15. Chang Y, Cho J, Cho YK, Cho A, Hong YS, Zhao D, Ahn J, Sohn CI, Shin H, Guallar E, Ryu Set al. Alcoholic and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease and Incident Hospitalization for Liver and Cardiovascular Diseases. [Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol](#)~~Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol~~. 2020;18(1):205-215.e7.
16. Dam-Larsen S, Becker U, Franzmann M-B, Larsen K, Christoffersen P, Bendtsen F. Final results of a long-term, clinical follow-up in fatty liver patients [Internet]. Vol. 44, [Scand J Gastroenterol](#)~~Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology~~. 2009. p. 1236–43. [10.1080/00365520903171284](https://doi.org/10.1080/00365520903171284)
17. Decraecker M, Dutartre D, Hiriart J-B, Irlès-Depé M, Marraud des Grottes H, Chermak F, et al. Long-term prognosis of patients with alcohol-related liver disease or non-alcoholic fatty liver disease according to metabolic syndrome or alcohol use. [Liver Int](#) [Internet] 2021. <https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/liv.15081>
18. Degré D, Stauber RE, Englebert G, Sarocchi F, Verset L, Rainer F, et al. Long-term outcomes in patients with decompensated alcohol-related liver disease, steatohepatitis and

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

Maddrey's discriminant function <32 [Internet]. Vol. 72, *J Hepatol* ~~Journal of Hepatology~~. 2020. p. 636–42. [10.1016/j.jhep.2019.12.023](https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2019.12.023)

19. Deleuran T, Grønbaek H, Vilstrup H, Jepsen P. Cirrhosis and mortality risks of biopsy-verified alcoholic pure steatosis and steatohepatitis: a nationwide registry-based study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* ~~Aliment Pharmacol Ther~~. 2012;35(11):1336–42.
20. Haflidadottir S, Jonasson JG, Norland H, Einarsdottir SO, Kleiner DE, Lund SH, et al. Long Term Follow-Up and Liver-Related Death Rate in Patients with Non-alcoholic and Alcoholic Related Fatty Liver Disease [Internet]. Vol. 14, *BMC Gastroenterol*. 2014. [10.1186/1471-230x-14-166](https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-230x-14-166)
21. Hagström H, Thiele M, Roelstraete B, Söderling J, Ludvigsson JF. Mortality in biopsy-proven alcohol-related liver disease: a population-based nationwide cohort study of 3453 patients. *Gut* ~~Gut~~. 2021;70(1):170–9.
22. Hsiang JC, Bai WW, Raos Z, Stableforth W, Upton A, Selvaratnam S, Gane EJ, Gerred SJ et al. Epidemiology, disease burden and outcomes of cirrhosis in a large secondary care hospital in South Auckland, New Zealand, *Intern Med J* 2015;45(2):160–9.
23. Jepsen P, Ott P, Andersen PK, Sørensen HT, Vilstrup H. Clinical course of alcoholic liver cirrhosis: a Danish population-based cohort study. *Hepatology* ~~Hepatology~~. 2010;51(5):1675–82.
24. Koskenvuo M, Kaprio J, Kesaniemi A, Poikolainen K. Alcohol-Related Diseases associated with ischaemic heart disease: a three-year follow-up of

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

~~middle~~MIDDLE-~~aged~~AGED ~~male~~MALE ~~hospital~~HOSPITAL ~~patients~~PATIENTS.
~~Alcohol~~ Alcohol~~Alcohol~~Alcohol. 1986;21(3):251–6.

25. Krige JEJ, Kotze UK, Bornman PC, Shaw JM, Klipin M. Variceal recurrence, rebleeding, and survival after endoscopic injection sclerotherapy in 287 alcoholic cirrhotic patients with bleeding esophageal varices. ~~Ann Surg~~Ann Surg. 2006;244(5):764–70.
26. Lackner C, Spindelboeck W, Haybaeck J, Douschan P, Rainer F, Terracciano L, Haas J, Berghold A, ~~Battler R, Stauber RE~~et al. Histological parameters and alcohol abstinence determine long-term prognosis in patients with alcoholic liver disease. ~~J Hepatol~~J Hepatol. 2017;66(3):610–8.
27. Louvet A, Labreuche J, Artru F, Bouthors A, Rolland B, Saffers P, Dharancy S, Lassailly G, Canva-
~~Delcambre V, Duhamel A, Mathurin Pe~~et al. Main drivers of outcome differ between short and long-term in severe alcoholic hepatitis: a prospective study [Internet]. Vol. 66, ~~J Hepatol~~Journal of Hepatology. 2017. p. S344–5. [10.1016/s0168-8278\(17\)31021-8](https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-8278(17)31021-8)
28. Marbet UA, Bianchi L, Meury U, Stalder GA. Long-term histological evaluation of the natural history and prognostic factors of alcoholic liver disease. ~~J Hepatol~~J Hepatol. 1987;4(3):364–72.
29. Masson S, Emmerson I, Henderson E, Fletcher EH, Burt AD, Day CP, et al. Clinical but ~~N~~ot ~~H~~istological ~~F~~actors ~~P~~redict ~~L~~ong-T~~e~~rm ~~P~~rognosis in ~~P~~atients with ~~H~~istologically ~~A~~advanced ~~N~~on-decompensated ~~A~~lcoholic ~~L~~iver ~~D~~isease [Internet]. Vol. 34, Liver Int. 2014. p. 235–42. [10.1111/liv.12242](https://doi.org/10.1111/liv.12242)

30. Naveau S, Gaudé G, Asnacios A, Agostini H, Abella A, Barri-Ova N, ~~Dauvois B, Prévot S, Ngo Y, Munteanu M, Balian A, Njiké-Nakseu M, Perlemuter G, Poynard T et al.~~ Diagnostic and prognostic values of noninvasive biomarkers of fibrosis in patients with alcoholic liver disease. ~~Hepatology~~[Hepatology](#). 2009;49(1):97–105.
31. Nilsson E, Anderson H, Sargenti K, Lindgren S, Prytz H. Clinical course and mortality by etiology of liver cirrhosis in ~~Sweden~~[Sweden](#): a population based, long-term follow-up study of 1317 patients. ~~Aliment Pharmacol Ther~~[Aliment Pharmacol Ther](#). 2019;49(11):1421–30.
32. Orholm M, Sørensen TI, Bentsen K, Høybye G, Eghøj K, Christoffersen P. Mortality of alcohol abusing men prospectively assessed in relation to history of abuse and degree of liver injury. ~~Liver~~[Liver](#). 1985;5(5):253–60.
33. Orntoft NW, Sandahl TD, Jepsen P, Vilstrup H. Short-term and long-term causes of death in patients with alcoholic hepatitis in ~~Denmark~~[Denmark](#). ~~Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol~~[Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol](#). 2014;12(10):1739–44.e1.
34. Orrego H, Blake JE, Blendis LM, Medline A. Prognosis of alcoholic cirrhosis in the presence and absence of alcoholic hepatitis. ~~Gastroenterology~~[Gastroenterology](#). 1987;92(1):208–14.
35. Potts JR, Goubet S, Heneghan MA, Verma S. Determinants of long-term outcome in severe alcoholic hepatitis. ~~Aliment Pharmacol Ther~~[Aliment Pharmacol Ther](#). 2013;38(6):584–95.

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

36. Powell WJ, Klatskin G. Duration of survival in patients with Laennec's cirrhosis [Internet]. Vol. 44, ~~Am J Med~~The American Journal of Medicine. 1968. p. 406–20. [10.1016/0002-9343\(68\)90111-3](https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(68)90111-3)
37. Rasmussen DN, Thiele M, Johansen S, Kjærgaard M, Lindvig KP, Israelsen M, ~~Antonsen S, Detlefsen S, Krag A, Anastasiadou E, Arumugam M, Bork P, Hansen T, Hartoft C, Israelsen H, Karsdal M, Legido-Quigley C, Melberg HO, Thiele M, Trebicka J, Krag A, Bork P, Mann M, Matthijnsens J, Krag A, Hansen T~~ et al. Prognostic performance of 7 biomarkers compared to liver biopsy in early alcohol-related liver disease. ~~J Hepatol~~J Hepatol. 2021;75(5):1017–25.
38. Ratib S, Fleming KM, Crooks CJ, Walker AJ, West J. Causes of death in people with liver cirrhosis in ~~England~~England compared with the general population: a population-based cohort study. ~~Am J Gastroenterol~~Am J Gastroenterol. 2015;110(8):1149–58.
39. Roberts SE, Goldacre MJ, Yeates D. Trends in mortality after hospital admission for liver cirrhosis in an English population from 1968 to 1999. ~~Gut~~Gut. 2005;54(11):1615–21.
40. Sahlman P, Nissinen M, Pukkala E, Färkkilä M. Incidence, survival and cause-specific mortality in alcoholic liver disease: a population-based cohort study. ~~Scand J Gastroenterol~~Scand J Gastroenterol. 2016;51(8):961–6.
41. Semb S, Neermark S, Dam-Larsen S, Franzmann MB, Albrechtsen J, Kallemose T, ~~Becker U, Bendtsen F~~ et al. Presence of alcoholic steatohepatitis, but no selective histological feature, indicates an increased risk of cirrhosis and premature death [Internet]. Vol. 51, ~~Scand J Gastroenterol~~Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology. 2016. p. 1367–74. [10.1080/00365521.2016.1203016](https://doi.org/10.1080/00365521.2016.1203016)

42. Sørensen HT, Thulstrup AM, Mellekjar L, Jepsen P, Christensen E, Olsen JH, ~~Vilstrup H et al.~~ Long-term survival and cause-specific mortality in patients with cirrhosis of the liver: a nationwide cohort study in ~~Denmark~~ Denmark. ~~J Clin Epidemiol~~ ~~J Clin Epidemiol~~. 2003;56(1):88–93.
43. Toshikuni N, Izumi A, Nishino K, Inada N, Sakanoue R, Yamato R, ~~Suehiro M, Kawanaka M, Yamada G et al.~~ Comparison of outcomes between patients with alcoholic cirrhosis and those with hepatitis C virus-related cirrhosis. ~~J Gastroenterol Hepatol~~ ~~J Gastroenterol Hepatol~~. 2009;24(7):1276–83.
44. Trimble G, Zheng L, Mishra A, Kalwaney S, Mir HM, Younossi ZM. Mortality associated with alcohol-related liver disease. ~~Aliment Pharmacol Ther~~ ~~Aliment Pharmacol Ther~~. 2013;38(6):596–602.
45. Vorobioff J, Groszmann RJ, Picabea E, Gamen M, Villavicencio R, Bordato J, ~~Morel I, Audano M, Tanno H, Lerner E, Passamonti M et al.~~ Prognostic value of hepatic venous pressure gradient measurements in alcoholic cirrhosis: a 10-year prospective study. ~~Gastroenterology~~ ~~Gastroenterology~~. 1996;111(3):701–9.
46. Teli MR, James OF, Burt AD, Bennett MK, Day CP. The natural history of nonalcoholic fatty liver: a follow-up study. ~~Hepatology~~ ~~Hepatology~~. 1995;22(6):1714–9.
47. Altamirano J, Miquel R, Katoonizadeh A, Abraldes JG, Duarte-Rojo A, Louvet A, et al. A histologic scoring system for prognosis of patients with alcoholic hepatitis. ~~Gastroenterology~~ ~~Gastroenterology~~. 2014;146(5):1231-[1239.e6](#).

48. Parker R, Kim S-J, Gao B. Alcohol, adipose tissue and liver disease: mechanistic links and clinical considerations. [Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol](#)~~Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol~~. 2018;15(1):50–9.
49. Ronksley PE, Brien SE, Turner BJ, Mukamal KJ, Ghali WA. Association of alcohol consumption with selected cardiovascular disease outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. [BMJ](#)~~BMJ~~. 2011;342:d671.
50. Luchini C, Stubbs B, Solmi M, Veronese N. Assessing the quality of studies in meta-analyses: Advantages and limitations of the Newcastle Ottawa Scale. [World J Meta-Analysis](#) [Internet]. 2017. Available from: <https://www.wjgnet.com/2308-3840/highimpact.htm>
51. Cutler DM, Lleras-Muney A, Vogl T. Socioeconomic Status and Health: Dimensions and Mechanisms [Internet]. National Bureau of Economic Research; 2008. (Working Paper Series). Available from: <http://www.nber.org/papers/w14333>
52. Kim D, Adejumo AC, Yoo ER, Iqbal U, Li AA, Pham EA, Cholankeril G, Glenn JS, Ahmed A et al. Trends in Mortality From Extrahepatic Complications in Patients With Chronic Liver Disease, From 2007 Through 2017. [Gastroenterology](#)~~Gastroenterology~~. 2019;157(4):1055-1066.e11.

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

FIGURE 1 (A) Overall cause of death in ALD and by differing stages of ALD, compared ~~to~~ with persons with alcohol use disorder. (B) Relative risk of liver versus non-liver mortality in differing stages of ALD.

FIGURE 2 (A) Rate of fatal extra-hepatic events in ALD. (B) Rates of fatal extra-hepatic events in ALD compared ~~to~~ with control groups and persons with alcohol use disorder. (C) Rrisk of fatal extra-hepatic events compared ~~to~~ with control groups without a diagnosis of ALD. (D) Rrisk of fatal extra-hepatic events in groups with alcohol use disorder or ALD.

TABLE 1 Rates of non-liver and liver-related mortality (events/1000 patient-years).

	Mortality rate (deaths per 1000 patient-years)											
	Cardiovascular		Cancer		Infection		All non-liver		Liver		Total mortality	
	rate	95% CI	rate	95% CI	rate	95% CI	rate	95% CI	rate	95% CI	rate	95% CI
Overall	8.9	6.3 - 12.3	10.9	8.2 - 14.5	7.6	4.9 - 12.0	35.7	27.9 - -45.7	47.5	32.6 - -69.2	101.7	78.5 - - 131.8
Fatty liver	11.4	6.8 - 19.0	10.2	6.9 - 15.1	1.6	0.7 - 3.8	43.4	30.1 - -62.7	11.5	6.1 - 21.6	55.6	37.0 - -83.5
Alcoholic hepatitis	6.2	4.9 - 7.8	5.8	2.6 - 13.0	18.3	14.5 - -23.1	22.5	12.4 - -41.0	109.5	74.0 - - 160.5	135.2	111.3 - - 164.2
Cirrhosis	12.8	7.3 - 22.3	13.0	7.5 - 22.6	4.5	2.0 - 10.5	41.2	25.7 - -66.0	79.1	53.1 - - 117.6	120.3	84.8 - - 170.7

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

Decompensated cirrhosis	3.5	1.7 --- 7.3	8.3	5.6 --- 12.3	10.1	5.7 --- 17.9	35.9	18.4 --- -70.1	99.4	55.9 --- - 176.9	135.6	76.7 --- - 240.0
All ALD ^a	8.4	3.7 --- 19.0	12.1	6.6 --- 22.5	10.5	4.8 --- 22.8	33.4	18.5 --- -60.3	30.0	13.0 --- -69.0	92.5	45.3 --- - 188.7

^aAll ALD refers to studies that reported outcomes for alcohol-related liver disease as a whole without describing the stage of disease.

TABLE 2 Relative risk of non-liver and liver-related mortality in persons with alcohol-related liver disease.

	Relative risk of mortality (compared to <u>with</u> control populations)														
	Cardiovascular			Cancer			Infection			All non-liver			Liver		
	R	95%		R	95%		RR	95%		R	95%		RR	95%	
	RR	CI	<i>p</i>	RR	CI	<i>p</i>	RR	CI	<i>p</i>	RR	CI	<i>p</i>	RR	CI	<i>p</i>
Overall	2.4	1.6 --- 3.8	<0.01	2.2	1.6 --- 2.9	<0.01	8.2	4.7 --- 14.3	<0.01	2.2	1.6 --- 3.1	<0.01	74.1	14.3 --- 384.8	<0.01
Fatty liver	1.4	1.1 --- 1.7	0.02	1.2	0.8 --- 1.6	0.38				1.5	1.3 --- 1.7	<0.01	53.3	27.1 ---	<0.01

FOR REFERENCE ONLY

This redlined PDF shows all copy edited changes made to your manuscript. They are for your reference only. Please make all edits in the HTML version of the proofs.

														104.8	
Alcoholic hepatitis	5.0	2.7 9.7	<0.01	2.3	1.2 4.3	<0.01									
Cirrhosis	2.5	1.4 4.6	<0.01	2.3	1.5 3.7	<0.01	7.8	5.8 10.5	<0.01	3.0	1.8 5.0	<0.01	90.0	7.4 109.6	<0.01
Decompensated Cirrhosis	4.0	3.6 4.5	<0.01	2.2	1.7 2.9	<0.01	31.5	11.7 85.1	<0.01	2.9	2.6 3.3	<0.01	162.7	77.5 341.6	<0.01
All ALD ^a	1.8	0.4 7.7	0.46	2.4	1.0 3.7	0.05				1.3	1.1 .6	0.02	40.3	14.3 384.8	<0.01

^aAll ALD refers to studies that reported outcomes for alcohol-related liver disease as a whole without describing the stage of disease.

FOR REFERENCE ONLY